Re-thinking the indices of multiple deprivation (for England):

A REVIEW AND EXPLORATION OF ALTERNATIVE/COMPLEMENTARY AREA-BASED INDICATOR SYSTEMS

IAN SMITH, ELIZABETH GREEN, DAMIAN WHITTARD AND FELIX RITCHIE BRISTOL CENTRE FOR ECONOMICS AND FINANCE, UWE

Disclaimer

The views in this report are those of the writing team. They are not necessarily shared by Power to Change staff. Any mistakes are the responsibility of the research team alone.

Citation:

Smith, I, Green, E, Whittard, D. and Ritchie, F. (2018) Re-thinking the indices of multiple deprivation (for England): a review and exploration of alternative/complementary area-based indicator systems. Final Report. Bristol Centre for Economics and Finance (BCEF) in the Bristol Business School at the University of the West of England (UWE).

Contents

Executive Summary3
1.0: Introduction
2.0: Method underpinning this report4
3.0: What is the English IMD indicator system?
3.1: What does the English IMD measure?5
3.2: IMD systems from other places7
3.3: Measuring the IMD at a higher-level geography8
3.4: Key ideas that underpin the English IMD as a measure of area-based disadvantage10
4.0: How does Power to Change currently use the IMD indicator system?
4.1: Investing in community businesses to make places better
4.2: Identifying gaps in the IMD13
5.0: Measuring the missing dimensions16
5.1: Measuring deprivation in rural areas16
5.2: Incorporating measures of well-being17
5.3: Capturing local economic conditions19
5.4: Service deserts and the residential (local) economy21
5.5: Capturing environmental quality22
5.6: Extending and complementing the English IMD indicator system23
6.0: Measurement solutions for identifying area-based disadvantage
6.1: Using the full flexibility of the existing IMD system26
6.2: Extending access to data to cover complementary issues on disadvantage
6.3: Further research to understand relationship between community business investment and place-based disadvantage
6.4: Summary of recommendations33
7.0: Recommendations for evaluating area-based disadvantage that relates to supporting community businesses
References

Executive Summary

Power to Change was established by the Big Lottery as an organisation whose mission is to fund community businesses and through such investment make an impact on the most disadvantaged places in England. Through setting its mission to target the most disadvantaged places, the Big Lottery specified that the means of spatially targeting these areas was to be the English Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD). The English IMD indicator has been designed to help focus government spending and is generally considered to be an example of good practice as a 'second generation' area-based indicator of multiple deprivation. However, it is not perfect and non-governmental bodies (such as Power to Change) should think carefully about how they use it.

The Bristol Centre for Economics and Finance (BCEF) of the University of the West of England (UWE) were commissioned by Power to Change to review what insights on disadvantage that the current English IMD offers us, secondly how these insights fit with the mission of Power to Change and thirdly of 'good practice' in relation to filling in the gaps between the insights of the existing IMD and the mission of Power to Change.

The English IMD needs to be thought of not as a single measure of disadvantage but as an indicator system that identifies disadvantaged places across multiple dimensions. This review suggests that the use of the top-line IMD indicator may not be appropriate for Power to Change's mission but the flexible use of the English IMD indicator system tailored to Power to Change's mission is appropriate for the organisation. Currently Power to Change appears to mainly focus on the top-line IMD indicator system in a way that squeezes the most useful insights out of it.

We recommend:

- 1. That Power to Change use the English IMD system to identify a form of multiple deprivation that best fits the hypothesis of change of the organisation from the existing components of the IMD (i.e. construct a Power to Change version of the IMD from existing components of the IMD). This flexible use of the IMD system will assist spatial targeting in the Liverpool city-region and the County of Suffolk. These are places in which Power to Change is currently working.
- 2. That Power to Change ensure that all people involved in the evaluation of community business applications to Power to Change are briefed as to the strengths and weaknesses of the top-line IMD and the rationale for the Power to Change versions of the IMD.
- 3. Further research is required on spatial targeting in relation to:
 - a. better understanding the support context and local economic context for community businesses (at local authority area level); and,
 - b. developing a 'community vulnerability to environmental issues' indicator to better understand the interaction of environmental disadvantage (and environmental quality) and community business impact.

Finally, we would recommend that Power to Change thinks about building an evaluative framework for understanding the impact of community businesses that does not depend upon the IMD indicator system. Given the stated objectives of Power to Change (to support and facilitate community businesses as a sector of the economy), the strategy of collaborative enquiry with community businesses would be a fruitful way of moving forward. Working with community businesses there is a need to better understand the dynamics and impacts of the community business sectors (already one of the strategic objectives of Power to Change).

1.0: Introduction

In February 2018, the Bristol Centre for Economics and Finance (BCEF) at the University of the West of England (UWE) was asked to review the value of using the English Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) for the work of Power to Change. The English IMD is an indicator system that has been used by many governmental and non-governmental bodies to target 'disadvantaged areas' across England over the past 20 years. This report documents the findings from this small project.

The report is structured in the following way:

- We set out how we worked out some answers to the research brief
- We outline what the English IMD is and how it is calculated
- We review the roles that Power to Change want a multi-dimensional area-based IMD to play
- We identify some aspects of area-based disadvantage that the current English IMD does not measure well, as well as outlining the possibilities for including the 'missing' elements
- We make recommendations for strengthening the process of area targeting for Power to Change

2.0: Method underpinning this report

The BCEF research team were asked to consider the following research questions:

- How does the current synthetic IMD compare to 'good practice' elsewhere across Europe (both in relation to the substantive content but also in relation to how it is derived) for measuring social disadvantage (and changes in social disadvantage)?
- How useful is the English IMD for Power to Change in relation to the core business/activities of Power to Change (for which the IMD is deployed)?
- What new, additional or amended indicators might be developed to meet those needs, and how feasible is it to build alternative synthetic indicators?

The BCEF research team sought answers to these questions in the following ways:

- We reviewed consultation documents and reviews related specifically to the English IMD.
- We did a desk-based review of both the academic literature and 'reviews' of indicator use related to measuring area-based disadvantage to identify examples of 'good practice'.
- We ran two workshops with key participants from Power to Change (in April and May 2018) to explore firstly expectations and disappointments with using area-based indicators of disadvantage (in current Power to Change work) and secondly how the English IMD currently matches those expectations.
- Where feasible we constructed some alternative scenarios for using existing area-related data-sets/components of the English IMD to identify disadvantaged areas for the work of Power to Change.

3.0: What is the English IMD indicator system?

There is no single way of measuring something as complicated as disadvantage. Some measures of disadvantage are more appropriate/useful for any given context than others – but none are perfect. It is also worth remembering that indicators are not designed to be perfect indicators of the concept they are designed to represent as but as 'good enough' tools to help do a (specific) job (see also Land (2001) on understanding social indicators as a 'model' of reality).

Figure 1 attempts to outline how we might understand not only the headline issue (in this case multi-dimensional area-based disadvantage) but also understanding the organisational/policy context in which that indicator is used. Figure 1 thus emphasises the data that are used to calculate an indicator (the proxy-variables) and the means of combining the variables together to come to a headline figure (the assembly process) but it also requires us to think about the specific job to which an indicator is applied (the purpose) and the concept being modelled. Thus Figure 1 outlines the kind of questions to be asked when considering each of the four stages.

Figure 1: understanding the making of an indicator



Thus, to review what the current English IMD does (and how fit for purpose it is) we need to consider:

- What was it built for (what is the purpose)?
- What is the underlying concept it was built to measure?
- What is it calculated from (and how it is calculated proxies and mathematical assembly)?

3.1: What does the English IMD measure?

The current English IMD system is the fifth iteration of the index and was released in 2015. The first version emerged from a need to spatially target government spending at 'neighbourhood-like' sized areas through the Neighbourhood Renewal Strategy and all its attendant 'joining-up', 'bending mainstream spending' and desired distributional concerns (no one should be disadvantaged by where they live). The broad design in terms of what themes are included and how the indicators are calculated have remained similar over its five iterations but the indicator set is not strictly

comparable from one set to another because the detailed list of variables used to construct it have changed over each iteration. So, it is a set of indicators that were calculated to enable central government to target specific funding programmes to the most disadvantaged areas in response to a particular idea of area-based disadvantage. It is not a set of indicators that were designed to evaluate the impact of those policies and programmes.

Table 1 indicates the structure of the indicator system. Starting from variables, there are 37 variables that have been selected because they are both available and can be constructed for the whole of England at the spatial scale of the lower tier super output area (LSOA; average population of 1,500 residents). These variables are then combined to create domain and sub-domain scores that are ranked. The ranking on each sub-domain is adjusted mathematically (using a probability curve) to emphasise disadvantaged scores. To create the overall indicator score (the IMD) the dimensional scores are combined using the weighting. Where there are sub-domains the sub-domain scores are generated first before creating a domain score from the sub-domain scores. Weighting varies the importance placed on the different dimensions, so that in this case income deprivation is judged to be 2.5 times more important than the barriers to housing and services in the overall assessment of area-based disadvantage.

Main domain	Weight	Description of domain/sub-domain	No of variables
Income deprivation	22.5%	Welfare administration data	6
Employment deprivation	22.5%	Claimant data on unemployment and worklessness	5
Health deprivation and disability	13.5%	Mortality, morbidity, mental health and incidence of 'disability'	4
Human capital	13.5%	School-related attainment by children and young people	5
deprivation		Working age qualifications	2
Crime	9.3%	Recorded crimes relating to violence/property theft	4
Barriers to housing	0.2%	Geographical barriers – distances to services	4
and services	9.5%	Wider barriers – housing affordability	3
Living Environment	0.20/	Indoors living environment – housing quality	2
Living Environment	9.3%	Outdoors living environment – traffic-related	2
7 domains		10 sub-domains	37

Table 1: The English IMD 2015 – a system of indicators

So, the IMD is generated from a system of indicators but the overall score is dependent on the weightings that are used. There is no scientific and absolute method of determining what the weighting scores should be. They have been subject to scrutiny. Dibben et al. (2007) carried out sensitivity analysis on the weightings and found that although swapping the weight on the employment and health domain might be justified, it made little difference to the overall ranking of areas. Smith et al. (2015, p24) claim that 89% of IMD users are broadly satisfied with the ranking system and the associated weights. However, this is not to say that the IMD overall indicator is the most appropriate one to use in all contexts.

The underlying assumption of an area-based indicator is that if a particular phenomenon (for example worklessness) is measured in an area at the same time as a second phenomenon (for

example high levels of reported crime), then the phenomena are in some way related – this is an ecological association. This is not a direct measure of whether workless households also experience high levels of crime as you might get from a household survey which asks householders both about their employment status and their experience of crime. The assumption of things that happen in the same place relate to each other is sometimes described as an 'ecological fallacy'.

As outlined by Fairburn et al. (2016, p758), the advantages of area-based indicators of disadvantage include:

- They are useful in communicating issues of area-based disadvantage to a wider public;
- They are useful for spatial targeting of resources.

The downside to area-based indicators is:

- They rely on the assumption that all the area-based measures (across the different dimensions) are experienced by the same people (who live in the area) just because they 'happen' in the same place (the ecological fallacy); for example, an area could have 50% low income and 50% significant health problems but there is no way of telling if 50% have low income and health problems, or whether the two groups are completely separate;
- The weighting of the components is difficult (i.e. how you combine the different elements) and subject to judgement;
- Indices that combine many different variables (37 in the case of the English IMD system) may sometimes hide specific phenomenon of disadvantage (that might only be evidenced in a single component variable). So, it can be sometimes difficult to identify the specific underlying cause of the disadvantage.

3.2: IMD systems from other places

Noble et al. (2006) outline the basic principles behind the English IMD indicator system. Within the United Kingdom, all the constituent nations have their own version of IMD (as well as countries such as Denmark, New Zealand and Canada – see Meijer et al. 2013, Exeter et al. 2017 or Schuurman et al. 2007 respectively). All are area-based indicator systems offering insight on multiple dimensions with the idea of identifying disadvantaged places (or areas). These second-generation indicator sets mainly build on the work that went into the construction of the first version of the English IMD (see Pasetto et al. 2010 for review of first-generation disadvantage indicators across Europe). There are variations in the specific variables (the proxy variables) that are used to construct the different national indices that are determined by data availability and reliability in each national context. Equally these other experiences also use slightly different methods of weighting and combining their dimensions (differences in 'assembly' stage) so that these sets of indicators are not directly comparable beyond their national contexts and over time.

Focussing on the indicator systems that have emerged within the nations of the United Kingdom, Table 2 outlines the dimensions included within the national indicator systems and the weightings selected within the indicator systems for England, Scotland and Wales. The principal differences are in the weightings given to 'access to service's as a form of disadvantage. Scotland and Wales, both nations with a higher proportion of rural areas, place a greater weight on accessibility to services (around twice the weight) than is applied in England. In the UK nations, the proxy data used within the dimensions also varies (we will discuss this in Section 5). Thus, the development of these indicators systems implies the application of similar processes of data assembly and of similar forms of defining a concept of area-based disadvantage but they have not used the same proxy data. Many of the policy areas implicated by the indicators are devolved responsibilities (e.g. education, health and regeneration) and so following the logic of 'purpose' from Figure 1, there is no reason why they need to be the same across the four nations. The indicator sets are not directly comparable across the four nations because of the policy contexts in which they operate (see Payne and Abel 2012 for suggestions on how to combine them to understand disadvantage across the UK as a whole).

English IMD 2015		Welsh IMD 2014		Scottish IMD 2016		
Main domain	Weight	Sub-domain	Domain	Weight	Domain	Weight
Income deprivation	22.5%	Income	Income	23.5%	Income	28%
Employment deprivation	22.5%	Employment	Employment	23.5%	Employment	28%
Health deprivation and disability	13.5%	Health	Health	14%	Health	14%
Human capital deprivation	13.5%	Children and young people Working age qualifications	Education	14%	Education	14%
Crime	9.3%	Recorded crimes	Crime	5%	Crime	9%
Barriers to	0.2%	Access to services	Access to services	10%	Access to services	9%
services	9.376	Housing affordability	Housing	5%	Housing	2%
		Housing quality				
Living Environment	9.3%	Outdoors living environment – traffic-related	Physical environment	5%	Not included	0%
7 domains		10 sub-domains	8 domains		7 domains	

Table 2: Comparison of weightings across IMD systems in Great Britain.

3.3: Measuring the IMD at a higher-level geography

The English IMD is constructed at the level of the lower level super output area (LSOA). LSOAs on average have a population of about 1,500 residents which is larger than the average rural parish. The scores can be calculated at areas that are made up from LSOAs (e.g. local authority areas or labour market areas). This is done in a number of ways:

- the average (mean) rank of indicator score for all LSOAs in the higher-level area;
- the average (mean) score of indicator score for all LSOAs in higher-level area;
- the proportion of LSOAs in the higher-level area that are in the most 10% disadvantaged (of all LSOAs in England).

In addition to these three obvious methods of recording an average level of disadvantage within the higher-level geography, there are two additional methods of ranking higher-level areas in terms of their disadvantage. These additional measures are defined as:

- the extent of disadvantage in a higher-level area is the proportion of the area population that lives in the 30% most disadvantaged LSOAs in England (using a weighting on the level of disadvantage); and,
- the local concentration of disadvantage in a higher-level area is the population weighted average rank of the areas incorporating the 10% most disadvantaged LSOA-based population in the higher-level area (ranking within the higher-level area only).

To give a better idea of what 'extent' of disadvantage look like, Figure 2 maps both extent of disadvantage for a local authority area with a low measure of extent in relation to the general headline IMD indicator (North Dorset) and the local authority of Manchester that records a high level of 'extent of disadvantage'. Figure 2 demonstrates that 'high extent' is also associated with high levels of disadvantage (on average). In general, there is a high level of correlation between rankings on the five different ranking systems as illustrated in Table 3 where the correlation indices for all the five measures of higher-level disadvantage area compared. Correlation is measured as a score of 0 (no correlation) to +/-1 (perfect positive or negative correlation) so it can be seen from Table 3 that these five wider-area measures of disadvantage are each telling a very similar story.

Figure 2: Geographies of disadvantage and advantage – extent of disadvantage¹



North Dorset District: low extent area



Mapping 'extent' levels in terms of LSOA area scores (top-line IMD)



Manchester Metropolitan Borough: high extent area



Location of Manchester and North Dorset

¹ Contains public sector information licensed under the Open Government Licence v3.0.

	IMD - Rank of average rank	IMD - Rank of average score	IMD - Rank of national concentration	IMD - Rank of extent	IMD - Rank of local concentration
IMD - Rank of average rank	1.000				
IMD - Rank of average score	0.990	1.000			
IMD - Rank of national concentration	0.814	0.871	1.000		
IMD - Rank of extent	0.924	0.959	0.910	1.000	
IMD - Rank of local concentration	0.879	0.930	0.925	0.966	1.000

Table 3: Indices of Correlation between the five measures of 'higher-level geography' disadvantage

3.4: Key ideas that underpin the English IMD as a measure of area-based disadvantage

In relation to the English IMD indicator system:

- The English IMD measures the level to which an area is disadvantaged. It attempts to identify areas where the combined conditions in relation to household income, labour market conditions, educational attainment, health of the population, levels of crime, accessibility and housing stock conditions are so bad that they are likely to disadvantage individual households or people. It is not a measure of how disadvantaged individuals/individual households are.
- Whereas the basic geographic unit of measurement? in the English IMD is the LSOA (average population 1,500 residents), you can combine these to measure disadvantage in larger areas (such as local authority areas or travel to work areas). At these 'higher' levels there a number of ways of measuring 'disadvantage' that not only take into consideration an 'average' of disadvantage score but also the 'concentration' or 'extent' of disadvantage across the wider area.
- The 'overall IMD' number/ranking involves combining data across the seven dimensions into a single headline figure. It is not always obvious for example how you add an unemployment rate (for an area) to a number that measures life expectancy. This is achieved by using 'weightings' and creating ranking systems (for each variable). On the whole, the way in which the English IMD does this makes sense (see Dibben et al. 2007) and in a way that others have copied (see Fairburn et al. 2016). Remember it might be more useful to look at the individual dimensions and not the overall headline figure (it is an indicator system and not a single measure) depending on what you are interested in (we return to this in Section 6 below).
- To construct an IMD that covers the whole of England down to areas containing 1500 residents (a lower super output area or LSOA) some practical decisions needed to be made about the data that was used. These choices inevitably restrict what the IMD actually measures but should not totally devalue the indicator – it is a useful number, but it is only offering partial insight into places. The English IMD will not measure everything you might think as being 'important' – it is a good measure of area-based disadvantage in England, but it is not designed as an indicator for community business environment (for example).

4.0: How does Power to Change currently use the IMD indicator system?

In setting up Power to Change as an organisation to fund community businesses, the Big Lottery Fund defined the mission of Power to Change in terms of the English IMD. The key performance indicators of Power to Change include "[investing] 58% funds (£ value) [..] in the 30% most deprived communities" where the 30% of the most deprived communities are defined in terms of the IMD. The performance indicator does not define what constitutes a "community" (neighbourhood or local authority area). A second performance indicator directs Power to Change to invest in "priority areas" but does not define how those "priority areas" are to be selected. The need to target specific disadvantaged areas is embedded in the work of Power to Change and 'good practice' in the English public sector would be to use the IMD indicator system as a means of achieving that.

The aim of this Section is to explore how closely the concept of disadvantage embedded in the IMD aligns itself to the stated aims and objectives of Power to Change. This Section is informed by the two workshops the research team ran with Power to Change in May and June 2018 but also through a reading of key Power to Change documents (such as the Power to Change Strategic Plan – see Power to Change 2015).

4.1: Investing in community businesses to make places better

Following the idea embedded in Figure 1 that an indicator is a statistical instrument that is designed for a specific purpose, in order to understand how fit for purpose the IMD indicator system is for Power to Change's work, we need to understand how Power to Change see the relationship between community businesses and area-based disadvantage. Power to Change has a series of working hypotheses at business-level and at the level of place (Power to Change undated) as to the likely impact of community businesses on places as well as a 'theory of change' (Power to Change 2015) that sets out what is meant by the longer terms outcomes of investing in community businesses. The general logic here is to identify what constitutes a 'better place' assuming that places without the characteristics of 'better places' are disadvantaged. We can then review whether these characteristics of a 'better place' are currently included within the English IMD indicator system.

The research team has engaged in a process of re-interpreting Power to Change's working hypotheses and initial theory of change (from the Strategic Plan 2016-18). Figure 3 is the outcome of that re-interpretation. We have tried to simplify a theory of change in so far as it touches on the direct investment in community businesses (rather than the objectives focussing on better understanding how community businesses work). Power to Change aims to invest in community businesses (in sectors such as [social] housing, [local] energy, social care, community pubs and community post offices). These businesses are likely to generate jobs and income in the local economy. Some of the businesses will provide services (of general economic interest) for the local economy (part of the residential economy) and they may generate a wider sense of community wellbeing as well as training local people in articulating their democratic voice in their locality. This series of boxes might be thought of as plausible outcomes flowing from investing in community businesses.

In Figure 3 the 'area-based' longer term outcomes are set out in the yellow boxes. These boxes emerge for the most part from the Power to Change theory of change published in 2015. Thus, better places are ones with better employment opportunities for residents who enjoy better health and better personal well-being. They are places with the local services that are accessible and that

are of a quality that residents want. By inference places that do not enjoy these characteristics are 'disadvantaged'. It is logical then to expect any indicator used to target resources for Power to Change to be able to identify places on the basis of these characteristics.



Figure 3: Re-interpretation of Power to Change's theory of change, in relation to investing in community businesses by the research team

Table 4 tries to link the desired outcomes of community business investment (as re-interpreted in Figure 3) to the dimensions contained within the English IMD indicator system. Of the seven 'better place' outcomes targeted by Power to Change in Figure 3, only three are captured by dimensions within the overall IMD indicator: health, employability (if we interpret 'employability' as measured by qualifications and language proficiency) and access to services. Two of Power to Change's intended outcomes (social isolation and community cohesion) are not captured at all in the current IMD. Improved environmental quality is partially captured (as measuring air quality) and it is difficult to interpret the desire for economic regeneration in terms of how the IMD is currently set up.

Table 4: Fit between Power to Change outcome measures (as interpreted by research team) and the English IMD

Οι to	itcome measure Change) – see Fi	(targeted by Power gure 3	Indicative concept(s) to measure	Incorporate in English IMD
1	Personal and	Less social isolation	E.g. number of single person households, loneliness	Not included as a variable, not included as a domain
2	social well- being	Better health and wellbeing	As a general measure of physical and mental health	Included as a domain (health and disability)
3		More community cohesion	Trust and belonging, social capital, social well-being	Not included
4	Economic conditions (in	Better employability	Measured as a quality of labour supply – quality of qualifications/human capital	Included as a domain (education, skills and training) – measures % adults with no qualifications and proficiency in English language
5	general and residential economy)	Economic regeneration	Measured as a measure of economic conditions – labour market supply, productivity, start up	Labour market conditions included in terms of unemployment. Other aspects not included
6		Better access to services	General access to post office, primary school, food shop, GP surgery	Included as a sub-domain
7	Improved envir	onmental quality	Might include amount of green space, might include measure of environmental justice	Only air quality measured

4.2: Identifying gaps in the IMD

Within the workshop sessions we posed the question firstly of how Power to Change staff used the IMD and secondly whether their use of the IMD matched their real-world experiences of area-based disadvantage.

Overall there is a clear belief that the IMD indicators need to be used albeit this is combined with a sense that the indicator does not quite 'fit' what Power to Change are trying to do:

"Power to Change had a specific KPI to target at least 60% of our funding into 30% most deprived areas – we use IMD as [a] measure [of disadvantage] but it doesn't fit our purposes"

Table 5 summarises the discussions within the workshop dividing the issues up into the four dimensions of indicator construction (also see Figure 1): purpose of indicator, concept represented by the indicator, proxy variables used to calculate indicator, and the method by which the proxy variables are combined into the indicator.

Table 5: Relating Power to Change practice with the strengths and weaknesses of the IMD indicator system

Indicator issue categories	Issues raised in Power to Change workshops	Comments on the fit between current IMD data and the requirements of Power to Change
	Spatial Targeting of resources	Area-based IMD is useful (see Section 3) for identifying (structurally) disadvantaged areas
Desired purpose	Application to specific 'thematic' interests such as housing, access to services, community energy	The IMD is a measure of generalised disadvantage – the headline figure is not designed to capture specific forms of disadvantage (such as fuel poverty)
	Evaluating impact of funding	Area-based IMD is not designed for evaluating impact of investment (over timescales needed)
Concept in practice	Multi-dimensional view of disadvantage needed	IMD does cover many dimensions that are important to Power to Change – but they might not relate clearly enough with Power to Change priorities (see Figure 4)
	Access to services in rural areas is an important feature of Power to Change's work	Rural disadvantage is represented through access to services (see Section 5)
Variables that flow from concept	It is the absence of coverage relating to social well-being, personal well-being and conditions for community businesses to flourish that is problematic with existing IMD	Areas such as access to services and environmental quality are included but might not be the specific aspects that are important to Power to Change
Assembly	Need to target bespoke geographies (relating to specific businesses) and flexibility	It is possible to represent IMD data at different scales/for bespoke areas

As with any instrument, it is important that the instrument (in this case the IMD indicator system) is used for purposes that are plausibly related to its construction. We would argue that the issues arising from Table 5 centre on three categories of use: instances where the full value of the IMD are not being recognised; instances where the IMD is being used inappropriately; and instances where the IMD does not cover the things that are important to Power to Change. Thus, some of the issues raised by Power to Change staff (for example using the IMD as an indicator to evaluate impact) are problematic because this is a use for which the IMD was not intended. Equally it is clear that the full functionality of the IMD indicator system is not being used to maximise the benefits of using a dataset that is constructed for general use. Extending this further, the objectives of Power to Change either go beyond the issues that the IMD currently measures (personal and social well-being) or go beyond the ways in which an existing dimension is currently measured as a proxy variable (access to services or measuring environmental quality) in the IMD indicator system. Based on the workshop discussions, we identified two themes for further development through this project:

- Firstly, it is important to better understand how the English IMD can be used rigorously but creatively; and
- Secondly, it is also clear that the English IMD does not cover all the themes that Power to Change consider important to their work of facilitating community businesses and to the issues on which Power to Change expect their grantee community businesses to impact. In particular the missing dimensions relate to: forms of disadvantage that flow from local economic development conditions, forms of disadvantage that flow from access to services, forms of disadvantage that result from social connectedness or community well-being within places (for example feelings of being isolated/lonely).

We will explore these issues further through Section 5 (filling in the missing dimensions) and Section 6 (using the full power of the IMD indicator system).

5.0: Measuring the missing dimensions

Section 4 establishes that there are aspects of disadvantage of interest to Power to Change that are either not included at all such as social well-being or that are only partially covered (access to services). Power to Change not only wants to think about generalised forms of multi-dimensional disadvantage but it also wants to focus on thematic work relating to housing, access to services, community energy or delivering social care. This Section will explore the degree to which the gaps in the current IMD indicator system can be filled with reference to: rural disadvantage; disadvantage related to personal and social well-being, measuring local economic conditions; measuring access to services; and measuring environmental quality.

Under each of these headings we need to consider:

- How might the (missing) issue be measured/conceptualised?
- What are examples of 'good practice' in including these missing dimensions?
- What is the availability of potential proxy measures?

5.1: Measuring deprivation in rural areas

"[One] challenge [for Power to Change is] to identify/articulate rural specific disadvantage" Workshop 1

In the workshop sessions it was clear that participants had a strong interest in 'rural' forms of disadvantage – this interest has been further cemented by the selection of the rural County of Suffolk as one of the key locality foci for Power to Change. It has certainly been a long-standing critique of area-based indicators that they poorly represent rural deprivation (see Martin et al. 2000 reviewing first generation indicator systems). However, this is not always the case. Bertin et al. (2014) compared the merits of four different area-based indicator measures (mainly related to health outcomes and the determinant of health outcomes) that were applied to urban and rural areas of Brittany (in France). They suggest that health-outcome indicators were variable in their ability to pick out pockets of rural as well as urban deprivation.

Fecht et al. (2017) compared the performance of a first generation (census-based) indicator (Carstairs indicator) and the English IMD to identify disadvantaged areas by separating rural and urban areas and re-standardising indicators across both urban and rural areas separately. They found re-standardising across rural areas alone was better able to identify the heterogeneity of disadvantage in rural areas. Thus, it is possible to use the same data proxies (for urban and rural areas) but to vary the method of assembly to stress urban or rural spatial uneven-ness in disadvantage outcomes.

The principal critique of Martin et al. (2000) towards first generation indicators for rural disadvantage stressed the absence of any measurement of spatial distribution in the census-based indicators they tested. The English IMD system included a dimension measuring access to services that was intended to capture a particular rural experience of disadvantage -as a dimension it has been included since 2000. We return to the issue of measuring accessibility to services in Section 5.4.

Some authors argue rural local economies work differently from urban ones. For example, Monks et al. (2000) argue that rural labour markets are characterised by hidden underemployment whereby workers are forced to take up less skilled employment and for shorter hours than they might prefer

due to the lack of choice in rural areas. The specific issue of capturing hidden employment was reviewed back in 2015. At that time, it was concluded that "despite wide ranging data exploration, it has not been possible to identify any suitable data sources" (CLG 2014). So, although hidden employment may be a specific feature of rural disadvantage, there is no means of consistently measuring it at a neighbourhood level across England as a whole.

The English IMD does include a measure of access to services that might be considered to be valuable 'good practice' in capturing rural disadvantage although we shall return to the problem of measuring access to services below. On the issue of how important access to services is within the bundle of dimensions is a more problematic issue that we return to in Section 6. Whereas rural issues of hidden employment are not systematically included due to the absence of robust data.

5.2: Incorporating measures of well-being

"[The existing IMD] doesn't include some [measure] of community /support available from community members" Workshop 1

It is clear from the Power to Change list of intended outcomes (as a result of investing in community businesses) that a set of issues that might be described as 'well-being outcomes' are important to the organisation. The New Economics Foundation sets out a framework for understanding the notion of 'well-being' in Figure 4.



Figure 4: A framework for defining personal and social well-being

Source: Michaelson et al. 2012

As can be seen, well-being under this framework is divided into 'personal' and 'social' well-being whereby personal well-being relates to individual level emotional and psychological attitudes and conditions whilst social well-being relates to the ways in which individuals are connected to their wider social networks. Comparing the headings in Figure 3 with Figure 4 (intended outcomes of Power to Change's work), there is clearly overlap in relation to social isolation (either as personal or

social well-being), community cohesion (as social well-being) and improved mental health outcomes (as personal well-being). Table 4 shows these concepts as absent from the existing English IMD indicator system.

The problems of measuring the concepts in Figure 4 are long-standing (see Knox 1978). Within the UK, the practice for measuring social well-being has focused on survey-based methods whereby data about the same respondents can be linked across the different contexts. This is a different approach to the construction of an area-based indicator such as the English IMD where relationships between dimensions are based on group means. Bodies such as the Social Life Institute have taken survey-based data on social surveys; as there are insufficiently large sample sizes to simply look at survey results area by area, they have generated survey-based data for small areas using statistical models (see Bacon and Woodcraft 2016). The Social Life Institute describes this data as 'predictive' but the key idea is that it is not based on empirical measurement in all small areas but based on generalising from a series of survey data-sets. For example, Social Life creates an indicator for 171,000 output areas based on two surveys of which one had a sample of 35,000 households whilst a second variable at output area level is generated from a survey of 5,000 respondents. These statistical methods involve a degree of informed speculation and at very small scales are likely to be associated with large margins of error.

In addition to the statistical technique of modelling survey data onto areas, where the survey sample size is big enough, estimates of well-being can also be directly estimated. For example, the Office for National Statistics (ONS) has inserted four questions relating to personal well-being in the Annual Population Survey. These questions relate to life satisfaction, feeling worthwhile, happiness and anxiety. Based on 85,000 responses the ONS produce (upper tier) local authority area estimates based on actual responses; but even at this sample size, estimates at local authority level are only reliable at unitary and upper tier (county-level) local authority level. Although this dataset is clearly problematic for targeting at specific communities in specific neighbourhood-sized localities, it does give some indication of generalised personal well-being at the level of local authority areas.

So, there are data sources to estimate personal and social well-being at sub-national levels but these are not always robust and reliable at the level of the LSOA (neighbourhood size). In the absence of these direct measures of social and personal well-being the temptation is often to adopt a proxy measure – however indirect proxy measures are not always valid. For example, one might assume that one could measure social isolation in relation to the number of single-person households. In a study of social isolation amongst older people Cornwell and Waite (2009) explored a variety of proxy measures for social isolation including household structure through survey research. They found that living in a single person household was not a reliable proxy for measuring social isolation since social isolation relates to the social networks of people rather than the type of household they live in. Thus, in assessing the notion of social well-being it is important not to use reductive or simplistic proxy measures (re-iterating the points made by Knox 1978, 40 years ago).

5.3: Capturing local economic conditions

"IMD[-related indicators] measure deprivation but they don't measure the assets and opportunities in an area" Workshop 1

The aim of Power to Change is to impact on the local economy of the localities in which they invest in community businesses. Using indicators to identify either areas of opportunity for community business or areas in which the supporting framework for community businesses is absent is a very different indicator purpose than identifying areas where multi-dimensional disadvantage exists for residents in terms of indicator purpose. There is a problematic tension here between identifying the best opportunities for community businesses to flourish as opposed to identifying disadvantaged areas for which (it is hoped) community businesses may have the greatest (social) impact. Given the initial design for the English IMD, it is not surprising that the IMD indicator system is better positioned to identify areas of greatest existing social need but is poorly designed to identify community business opportunity.

In terms of its theory of change (re-interpreted in Figure 3) Power to Change is not explicit as to the local economic impacts it is aiming to facilitate. On one hand there is a clear desire to improve access to a range of services in places and this will be considered under access to services in Section 5.4 (and has also been discussed under 'rural deprivation' in Section 5.1). There is a clear understanding that better quality services in places may have additional benefits such as improved health and well-being and improved labour market opportunities (in the range of jobs available and in training opportunities).

The workshop discussion on identifying this as an area-based issue touched on many aspects of local economic development and the relationship between community businesses and the local economy. The Power to Change concept for a better place is based on there being 'economic regeneration' but there is little notion of what that might mean. There was a clear notion of community businesses changing economic flows in localities as envisaged by the 'leaky bucket' metaphor of local economic development (see Ward and Lewis 2002) whereby community businesses might retain a greater level of spending within a locality rather than this income 'leaking' out to other places. The issue then becomes one of identifying places that are either better or worse at retaining money within the immediate local economy. This also opens up questions as to what the most appropriate spatial scale to think about economic leakiness is – it is not clear that neighbourhood is not the most appropriate geography because businesses (even community ones) might be dependent on labour, assets and markets that extend far beyond the neighbourhood.

In the English IMD system 'supply side' labour market conditions are captured in terms of the skills and qualifications of the working age population, and in terms of the educational attainment of local children. It is less clear how the 'demand side' conditions (or the conditions that facilitate/constrain the emergence of community businesses) are captured.

Wong (1996 cited in Wong 2002) carried out a comprehensive review of US, British and other European literature in the mid-1990s to establish 11 dimensions of local economic development pertinent to local authority areas in England. These 11 dimensions are set out and defined in Table 6. Table 6 also considers whether any aspect of the LED dimension is already covered within the English IMD indicator system.

 Table 6: Local Economic Development (LED) factor after Wong (2002)

LED factor	Definition of LED factor (after Wong 2002, p1836)	Variables used	Covered by English IMD system
Locational factors	Relates to attributes external to an area – it relates to accessibility to wider markets and production factors	Access by air/road to key locations	No
Physical factors	Availability of sites and premises	Availability of premises	No
Infrastructural factors	Relating to accessibility to transport and communication networks	Car-related commuting measures	No
Human resources	Labour market (supply side) conditions	Unemployment and qualifications	Yes, under Education and Employment
Capital and finance	Access to capital for investment	Access to venture capitalists	No
Knowledge and technology	The presence of 'frontier' or 'high-tech'/innovative sectors	Location quotients of high tech industry and universities	No
Industrial structure	The mix of industrial sectors present – mix of export and residential economy	Concentration of business service sector businesses	No
Quality of life	Desirability of the place to live – amenity value	House price, council tax rate, educational attainment	Some aspects covered under environmental quality
Business culture	Levels of entrepreneurship, start-up and survival rates of businesses, capacity of existing businesses to innovate	Start up and death rate of businesses	No
Community identity and image	Community cohesion	Balance of in and out commuting flows	No – considered under 'social well- being'
Institutional capacity	The coherence of local policy frameworks and the networks that elaborate policies	No proxy measure identified	No

It is perhaps not surprising that very little of this set of indicators is captured within the English IMD since the IMD was designed to capture the spatially uneven outcomes of economic development and was not designed to capture whether areas had the appropriate conditions for local businesses to flourish. If Power to Change wanted to capture an indicator set that focussed on local economic conditions (over and above the presence of local community services), it would imply the need to commission a project to work on this since local economic conditions are neither captured by the existing IMD indicator system nor is there an existing alternative set of indicators capturing Wong's 11 dimensions for local economic development. These indicators would either need to be developed at local authority level in order to 'fit' with the policy environment (of business support services) or it would need to fit with functional economic spaces such as travel to work areas (or small town economic zones in rural areas).

5.4: Service deserts and the residential (local) economy

"[the current IMD contains] no measure of local authority services/impact of austerity which is fairly key to community businesses". Workshop 1

The availability of services within an area has been already specifically mentioned as a 'rural' dimension of disadvantage (although this is not to imply it is an exclusively rural dimension) in Section 5.1. The presence or absence of services in an area is also part of the local economic context for investing in community businesses (see Section 5.3 on local economic context) in that it is both an opportunity (the need for a local shop) for community businesses but it can also be a constraint (the absence of business support services).

Currently the English IMD does have a dimension that relates to a basket of services of general economic interest for residents: this is measured in terms of road distance to post offices, food shops, primary care practices (GPs) and primary schools. In the English IMD system these distances are measured as road distances and there is no differentiation in relation to different types of transport. In contrast, in the Scottish IMD, distances by public transport are also taken into consideration. Accessibility to services is generally important in rural areas (following on from Section 5.1) but not always. For example, Higgs and Langford (2013) investigated access to post offices in Wales for elderly customers and found little difference between urban and rural areas although there were problematic issues of access to different types of service. Comber et al. (2012) looked at perceptions of dissatisfaction to access to libraries and post offices in Leicestershire and found although there was a general relationship between distance and dissatisfaction, in the case of post offices the rate of increase in dissatisfaction varied considerably for different social fractions and in different parts of the county. So physical accessibility is not just an issue that is of concern to people living in rural areas.

Measuring the sufficiency of the service offer in a locality is more complicated than just the time it takes to travel to the nearest point of service. For example, Shaw (2006) investigated the issue of access to food shops in a study of 'food deserts' in the UK. Shaw identified different types of 'food deserts' that related to three concepts of accessibility: ability (anything that might prevent access even if you have the resources), assets (anything that would prevent you from buying food that you can get to and that you would like to eat) and attitude (anything that would stop you eating food that you can get to and can afford to buy). Thus, the presence of a food desert did not just emerge because of the time to travel to a food shop (ability dimension) but it was also mediated by the quality of that food shop (relative to what consumers might buy) as well as the preferences of the consumer. This notion of measuring accessibility and service quality relative to expectations is extremely difficult and goes beyond how access to services is currently conceptualised within the English IMD system.

Finally, we can consider whether accessibility (in any of its definitions) is being related to the most appropriate bundle of services. Currently the English IMD includes road distances to post offices, food shops, primary care practices (GPs) and primary schools as we have noted above. On the whole there is a strong correlation between distances to these four types of services, but the question arises as to whether this is the most appropriate bundle of services to be included. This is an issue that has been subject to review. Table 7 summarises the findings of the review team in 2014 when they considered adding three new types of service to the IMD system: access to childcare services, access to broadband (allowing for the dematerialisation of some services); and fuel poverty as a measure of access to services relating to the 'asset'-based dimension of accessibility for energy services.

Table 7: Issues explored in last review of English IMD system relating to access to services (from CLG 2014)

Issue explored in 2014	Why might be important?	Why not included (CLG 2014)
Access to childcare	Access to childcare services	Robust data not currently available without significant extra work
barriers	entering labour market	without significant extra work
Access to digital	Broadband access seen as	Broadband speed per se is not a
services	constraint on rural economy	generalised measure of
		deprivation and "not conditions
		just experienced by a small
		number of people or areas"
Households in fuel	Certainly, an issue of asset-based	"the methodology used [to
poverty under	service access when a household is	generate current data] does not
environmental	unable "to have adequate energy	produce robust estimates at very
quality	services for 10 per cent of income"	low-level geographies" (CLG 2014,
	(after Boardman 2010)	p44)

Thus, in terms of measuring accessibility, the most likely way forward would be to include accessibility by public transport as well as looking at shortest road distance and assuming car transport. Asset-based accessibility might be incorporated combining geographic barriers dimension with the income dimension of the current IMD. We will explore ways of using the full functionality of the current IMD going beyond the top-line indicator value in Section 6.

5.5: Capturing environmental quality

Power to Change includes environmental improvements as an outcome of investing in community businesses although there is not a clear definition of what is meant by environmental improvement. Environmental quality is currently measured within the English IMD as a combination of air quality and of road traffic accidents. Including a more comprehensive measure of environmental quality has been constrained both by a clear definition of what environmental disadvantage might mean and by the lack of data that is available and meaningful at neighbourhood level.

Fairburn et al. (2016) outline how the environmental dimension has been incorporated in the UK nations' indices over the past 20 years but this remains limited. Currently the Welsh index is the most advanced including variables for air quality, proximity to 'emissions sites' and risk of flooding. Risk of flooding was rejected as a possible variable to be included in the English IMD in 2014 because data for England (measured by the Environment Agency) only measured the risk of flooding rather than the incidence of flooding in a given area (CLG 2014). It is difficult to understand the logic of the Project Group given that risk of flooding is a characteristic of environmental location currently (living in a high-risk area comes with higher insurance premiums for example) but also given the likelihood of climate change, it is useful to plan future investments to be at a lower risk of flooding in the future.

There is research on measuring environmental quality in terms of environmental risk to the people that live in an area. This work is covered by researchers working on the theme of the adaptive capacity of communities (to environmental risk) (see Engle 2011) or on community vulnerability to environmental risk (see Cutter et al. 2008). These latter assessments do relate to broader measures

of social and economic advantage that attempt to measure the social cohesiveness of communities (see Section 5.2) as well as measuring environmental risk. It is however difficult to establish appropriate proxy measures based on existing secondary data sources to create such indicators that often rely on primary data collection (for example through surveys) in limited case study areas.

The relationship between community businesses and a better quality environment is complicated in the absence of clear consensus of either what a good quality environment is or what constitutes a sustainable outcome. In Power to Change's hypotheses of community business impact (Power to Change undated), sustainability is interpreted in economic terms alone (the capacity of a business to survive and flourish) rather than in environmental terms (do community businesses facilitate low carbon lifestyles or higher levels of biodiversity for example). It is certainly plausible that by building social cohesion and social well-being place-based communities become more resilient to external shocks – be that environmental, social or economic. Although currently we lack a basic model of how social and economic indicators would combine with environmental indicators to generate a measure of vulnerability (see King and MacGregor, 2000). As we have seen in Section 5.2, there is very little available data at neighbourhood level to make sense of community resilience in the face of environmental hazards.

5.6: Extending and complementing the English IMD indicator system

This Section of the report set out to explore how the existing IMD indicator systems might be extended in relation to five issues:

- Measuring rural-specific disadvantage;
- Measuring social and personal well-being;
- Measuring local economic conditions (constraints and opportunities);
- Measuring access to services; and
- Measuring environmental quality (and community resilience to environmental hazard).

Table 8 summarises our findings in relation to these dimensions that Power to Change participants had found to be inadequately covered in workshop 1. Of the five 'gaps', the issue of rural disadvantage is the issue that is probably best covered in the existing IMD system. There is little evidence of a need to find new data for rural disadvantage although there is a clear case of using the full flexibility of the existing IMD system to represent and identify rural disadvantage.

Access to services is a dimension that has good coverage within the existing IMD system. Whereas the existing IMD does adopt a highly simplified measure of access to services, there is scope for refining the measure of accessibility to public transport and to a broader range of services. However as it currently stands the most significant area of improvement is to build a specific indicator bundle that raises the importance of access to services (and we pursue this in Section 6). Equally the addition of a flood risk variable could be combined with income ranking to explore environmental vulnerability building on the existing IMD data set.

Filling the gap identified in relation to local economic conditions is problematic because of identifying an appropriate geographic scale. There would be much scope to develop a set of indicators at local authority level that would explore the local economic conditions for community businesses. This would draw on data on the local economic structure of the wider area and could be supplemented through a survey of local authority support services for community businesses (and business in general). For the most part, the English IMD indicator system does not address place-

based disadvantages that flow from either the state of the local residential economy or from the state of social infrastructure. Equally the IMD indicator system has not been conceptualised with the specific relationship between community entrepreneurship and 'making better places' in mind. Thus, the English IMD system is inappropriate as a stand-alone means of identifying places that are either vulnerable to cuts in social infrastructure, services of economic interest or private sector parts of the residential economy.

Table 8: Dealing with differences between the IMD indicator system and disadvantage relating to the work of Power to Change.

Form of area-	How is disadvantage	Examples of 'good	Does IMD plausibly
disadvantage	conceptualised?	in an area-based	disadvantage?
	•	measure	
Rural disadvantage	Requires some measure of distance and connectivity.	See access to services below	The geographic barriers dimension is a plausible dimension relating to rural disadvantage
Personal and social well-being	Experiencing social isolation, wrong type (or absence) of community cohesion	Some synthetic measures derived from survey data (Social Life)– measure more reliable at local authority level	Not incorporated in IMD as it currently stands due to lack of robust neighbourhood-level data
Local economic conditions	Poor access to input factors for starting a business/ running a business	Wong (2002) indicators but applied to local authority areas – invalid at LSOA level	Need to develop a specific set of indicators at higher- level geographies (e.g. local authority area-level).
Access to services	Being unable to access basic services (SGEI) and social infrastructure	Scottish IMD includes access to services by public transport – no examples of including 'quality of services' Fuel poverty indicators developed but not used in sector	Includes access to a range of SGEIs but does not deal with economic accessibility or service quality issues – can be developed within existing IMD system
Environmental quality (and vulnerability)	Can be conceptualised as 'access to good quality environment' (distributive dimension). Or measured as environmental vulnerability	Welsh IMD includes flood risk and pollution sites	Some distributive dimension with air quality but no measure of quality/quantity of environmental capital (that might relate to community ownership). No means of generating an environmental vulnerability indicator to date

The most difficult to fill gaps in the current IMD system relates to personal and social well-being. Despite the United Kingdom statistical agencies being leaders on the measurement of personal and social well-being at a national level, there is no robust data available at neighbourhood level to combine with the IMD indicator system. Where there is neighbourhood level data, it is not directly measured (it is 'modelled') and so is problematic for the spatial targeting of resources.

6.0: Measurement solutions for identifying area-based disadvantage

We have reviewed how the English IMD is constructed as well as identifying areas that might be better conceptualised using the existing indicator system and where the IMD indicator system is missing concepts that are important to Power to Change. In this Section we want to:

- explore specific proposals for Power to Change to use the full flexibility of the IMD indicator system;
- consider how the existing IMD indicator system might be extended using additional data; and finally,
- outline a research agenda for better understanding the place-based benefits/opportunities of investing in community businesses.

As well as measuring the merits for these solutions to face up to the measurement challenges in relation to understanding disadvantage as it relates to the business of Power to Change, we also want to evaluate the options relative to three operational issues:

- How would it help add insight to the context for community business for Power to Change?
- How easy would the solution be for community leaders to use (for example in their funding application process)?
- How would the options assist either spatial targeting or programme evaluation?

6.1: Using the full flexibility of the existing IMD system

The English IMD indicator system has been conceptualised to be flexible. The IMD was designed to capture a generalised sense of area-based disadvantage (see Section 3). However, it has always been possible to re-construct an index that is better suited to a specific context (see Appendix F - Smith et al. 2015) through using a bespoke selection of the existing dimensions included within the indicator system. The aim of this Section is to demonstrate the practical significance of adopting a bespoke indicator constructed from a selection of IMD dimensions.

Section 4 sets out how Power to Change is particularly interested in rural areas and Table 5 matches the stated intended outcomes of Power to Change's work against the dimensions of the English IMD. From the review of Power to Change's priorities it has been clear that both rural forms of disadvantage and access to services (as an opportunity for community businesses) are important to the work of Power to Change. As an illustrative example, Table 9 outlines how two potential bespoke indicators might be constructed to better reflect the intended outcomes for Power to Change. The first column identifies the dimensions that most relate to a measure of asset-based accessibility (combining physical accessibility and a measure of ability to buy a service/access to a service – see Section 5.4 for discussion). The second column builds an indicator based on the analysis in Table 4 taking the dimensions of Power to Change's 'better place' that are captured within the existing IMD system. Given the stated importance of rural disadvantage we have also selected the weighting on access to services that is used within both the Welsh and Scottish IMD systems (i.e. a weighting of 10 rather than 4.5 on geographic barriers – see Section 5.1 for more detail). However not all dimensions of the IMD indicator system are used to calculate these variant indicators. Where a dimension of the existing IMD system is to be excluded it is marked as not applicable (n/a).

	Asset-based	Power to Change
Description of domain/sub-domain	accessibility to	'better places'
	services	indicator
Income deprivation	22.5	N/A
Employment deprivation	N/A	N/A
Health deprivation and disability	N/A	13.5
Education (qualifications and attainment)	N/A	13.5
Crime	N/A	N/A
Geographical barriers – distances to services	10	10
Wider barriers – housing affordability	N/A	N/A
Indoors living environment – housing quality	N/A	N/A
Outdoors living environment – traffic-related	N/A	N/A
Total of weights	32.5	37

Table 9: Revised index calculation relating to Power to Change special variant indicators

Figures 5 to 8 map the indicators set out in Table 9. The figures focus on two areas of interest to Power to Change: the Greater Liverpool city-region and Suffolk county council area. Figures 5 and 7 map the patterns of disadvantage in the Greater Liverpool city-region whilst Figures 6 and 8 both focus on Suffolk. Each figure includes three maps: the first map shows the pattern of disadvantage in relation the overall English IMD index; the second map shows the pattern of disadvantage in relation to one of the new accessibility indicators set out in Table 6 and the third map sets out the spatial implications of adopting the accessibility-related indicator. In this third map, the criteria for 'disadvantage' is for an area being included within the 30% most disadvantaged LSOAs in England. Areas in red are those that would be considered in the 30% most disadvantaged with both the original IMD as well as the accessibility indicator. For our purposes, areas marked in orange are of particular interest because these are areas that are indicated as disadvantaged under the accessibility-related indicator.

In the case for Greater Liverpool city-region the spatial impact of using the accessibility indicators to target disadvantaged areas is relatively minor. The most disadvantaged areas under the general IMD indicator are similar to those indicated as disadvantaged under the accessibility-related indicators. However, for Suffolk there is a significant change in the framing of disadvantage once the importance of accessibility is enhanced. Much of the county is coloured orange as the disadvantage rankings relating to accessibility are very important for rural areas.

Figure 5: Mapping an indicator of asset-based accessibility disadvantage in the Liverpool city-region²



Comparing top-line IMD indicator and 'asset-based accessibility' indicator for Liverpool city-region

Figure 6: Mapping an indicator of asset-based accessibility disadvantage in Suffolk²



Comparing top-line IMD indicator and 'asset-based accessibility' indicator for Suffolk

ast disadvantaged

selected under topline IMD not accessibility

selected under accessibility not general IMD

² Contains public sector information licensed under the Open Government Licence v3.0.

Figure 7: Mapping the Power to Change 'better places' indicator: Liverpool city-region³



Comparing top-line IMD indicator and Power to Change 'better places' indicator for Liverpool city-region

Figure 8: Mapping the Power to Change 'better places' indicator: Suffolk ³



Comparing top-line IMD indicator and Power to Change 'better places' indicator for Suffolk

ast disadvantaged

selected under P2C not IMD

³ Contains public sector information licensed under the Open Government Licence v3.0.

	Asset-based accessibility indicator ('000s)			Power to Change 'better places' indicator ('000s)		
Total population residing in areas:	Suffolk	Liverpool city- region	Rest of England	Suffolk	Liverpool city- region	Rest of England
not selected under either IMD or accessibility indicator	423.6	665.6	32,688.2	403.4	611.7	32,267.6
selected under both IMD and accessibility indicators	86.3	670.7	11,923.0	102.5	731.6	11,144.2
selected under general IMD not accessibility	26.1	100.9	3,395.7	9.9	40.0	4,174.5
selected under accessibility but not general IMD	132.2	16.0	3,305.7	152.5	70.0	3,726.4
Totals	668.3	1,453.2	51,312.6	668.3	1,453.2	51,312.6

Table 10: Impact of changing indicator in terms of population for selected areas

Table 10 considers the impact of using these bespoke indicators to target disadvantage in comparison to the top-line IMD indicators in terms of population numbers; it shows the target areas of Suffolk, Liverpool city-region and the rest of England.

Looking at the figures for England, the change in indicator does re-distribute the proportion of population that is included as living in a disadvantaged area in both cases. In the case of the assetbased indicator 3.3 million people in England who would be considered as disadvantaged under the general IMD would not be considered disadvantaged under the accessibility indicator without changing the material quality of life of those residents. An additional 3.3 million residents would be considered to be living in a disadvantaged area under the asset-based accessibility indicator that would not be living in an area disadvantaged under the general IMD.

However, in the case of Suffolk, it can be argued that increasing the importance of accessibility (either in combination with income or in combination with education and health) brings in an additional 100,000 people into the category of living in a 'disadvantaged' area. In the case of Liverpool city-region, even though there appears to be little spatial effect of the change of indicator, some 80,000 fewer residents would be deemed to be living in a disadvantaged area if the criterion combined asset-based accessibility and 30,000 more if using the Power to Change 'better places' indicator combining health, education and accessibility.

In conclusion it is worth Power to Change considering the use of an accessibility-specific version of the IMD that would have the effect of both bringing in a larger population as living in a disadvantaged area as well as better reflecting the dimensions of disadvantage on which Power to Change are trying to have an impact.

6.2: Extending access to data to cover complementary issues on disadvantage

As well as working with the current IMD dimensions to make the indicator system work better for a specific set of outcomes, it is also possible to think about how to extend data coverage. It is clear from Section 5, that the domains of well-being, business environment, access to services and environmental quality are not currently included in the existing English IMD indicator system in any great depth (at lower-level geographies such as neighbourhoods) due to the absence of robust data.

However, there is a wider range of secondary data available for project promoters to use that might cover census characteristics (for example). Such services might be categorised as one of two types: services that emphasise user-friendliness and a non-technical user group; and services that assume basic analytical skills (such as statistical skills) in advance of using the service. If the aim (consistent with Power to Change's general mission) is to make resources available for community leaders, then it is important to outline the key characteristics of such as services as:

- It needs to make secondary data easily accessible to community leader users (good labelling and explanations) via a web-based service (for accessibility);
- It needs to allow community leader users to map the data (and ideally compare different areas and different levels of area);
- It needs to allow users to present data usefully;
- It needs to allow users to compile their own data-sets and include them in their analysis;
- It needs to support user's engagement with the service/data.

The issue of secondary data in the late 2010s is not one of absence. There is a lot of data that is made available for free via the Office for National Statistics (<u>https://www.ons.gov.uk/</u>) or via government constructed search sites for data (see

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/office-for-national-statistics). The problem becomes one of finding the right data of an appropriate quality (and provenance) for people whose primary job is not to keep track of data availability. Thus, there is the need for intermediary organisations and services that can do some of the sorting and quality assurance work before end users (such as community leaders) consume and use the data. An example of such an intermediary service is the Local Insight data and mapping service (see https://local.communityinsight.org/). The contents of the Local Insight data base (checked June 2018) are outlined in Table 10. For an annual fee, community groups can access and map just under 900 variables. These variables include all the dimensions of the English IMD. The Local Insight data resource would allow leaders to map the variables of choice (and create bespoke geographic areas of interest – for example market areas for their business proposal). It allows leaders to create their own data-sets and upload them into the database. Other services may be available but local insight is used for illustrative purposes.

Table 10 is based on a simple thematic coding of the variables (some variables could be classified under more than one heading). Under the theme of accessibility, the Local Insight data-base does include data on travel times to key services, broadband speeds and accessibility to financial services (from 2010) as well as estimates for energy consumption (that might be used in building a case on accessibility to energy services). The data base covers some of the issues relating to business environment in terms of business start-ups and funding via the Big Lottery fund. Under well-being there is the data (at local authority level) relating to personal well-being. The data-set al.so includes the three synthetic (predictive) variables relating to community cohesion at neighbourhood level

that have been derived from some relatively small-scale survey data - but this would need to be used carefully, as indicated above in Section 5.1.

Variable theme (author derived)	Number of variable variabl	Totals	
	Directly measured variable	Derived variables	Totals
related to accessibility	42	7	49
related to business environment	61	3	64
related to crime	15	2	17
related to demography	225	27	252
related to employment	81	4	85
related to environmental issues	3	9	12
health-related	136	9	145
housing related	88	19	107
about qualifications and skills	41	9	50
Income	53	9	62
multi-dimensional poverty measure	1	19	20
well-being	26	3	29
Total	772	120	892

Table 11: Variable themes available within Local Insight data system

6.3: Further research to understand relationship between community business investment and place-based disadvantage

Building bespoke indicators within the existing IMD indicator system or extending insight by combining with additional data (available for example through Local Insight) would deal with some of the problematic issues raised by Power to Change participants in this study.

Reflecting on this review the most significant research gaps relate to:

- Identifying the conditions that support community businesses to flourish (building on the work of Wong 2002)
- Measuring vulnerability of communities to current and future environmental hazards (building on the work of Cutter et al. 2008 or King and MacGregor 2000)

In addition, we would recommend that Power to Change need to develop their evaluative framework. To build such a framework it will be important to understand the theories in action of community business leaders in how they relate to (and create impact in) different place-based and networked communities (for example building on the work of van Ham et al. 2017). Scoping a research agenda on this much broader issue was beyond the brief of this project albeit that evaluating the impact of community business investment using the IMD indicator system or the complements recommended in this report would be beyond the reasonable capacity of the data we have discussed.

6.4: Summary of recommendations

Table 11 summarises the three areas of recommendations against operational criteria for Power to Change. These recommendations are neither mutually exclusive nor mutually dependent. But the options outlined in Table 11 relate to:

- Using the full flexibility of the English IMD indicator system;
- Extending the coverage of the English IMD indicator system in portfolio applications by using additional secondary data-sets (mediated via a data service);
- Doing additional research to extend the English IMD through the addition of dimensions.

Table 11 also considers how each of these options might score against operational considerations relating to:

- Extending value from the existing IMD indicator system
- Costs of implementation
- Capacity to map disadvantage
- Ease of use/access by community leaders

Table 11: (Non-mutually exclusive) research options for Power to Change in relation to area-based measurement

Operational consideration	Option 1	Option 2	Option 3
	Re-working the IMD	Buying access to	Funding further
	indicator system	locality data-service	research
Understanding a general notion of deprivation	Helps focus the IMD onto the priorities of Power to Change	Permits community leaders to represent disadvantage that matters to them	Extends our understanding in the relationship between community business and deprivation
Complementing existing IMD system	Does not extend the IMD system	Good for extending to specific measures identified by community leaders	Potentially adds missing dimensions (that matter to Power to Change)
Costs associated with option	Very low cost – we have constructed some alternatives already	These services come with a subscription charge	Variable – depending on the scope of research
Good for spatial targeting or evaluating impact	Spatial targeting	Spatial targeting – the service needs to come with mapping functions (including bespoke mapping)	Evaluating impact
Capacity to deal with different geographies	Yes	Yes (also including IMD) – also possible to construct new areas of interest	Capacity to understand impacts of differing (intersecting) geographies
Potential ease of use by community leaders	Would need software skills	Service would need to support non-specialist users and have a user- friendly interface	Could be constructed as a collaborative enquiry with community businesses

The option to use the full flexibility of the IMD indicator system is the most cost-effective option. This report provides examples of how this might be done (see Section 6.1) as well as the implications of using only the dimensions of the IMD that directly relate to the priorities of Power to Change. Using a bespoke IMD indicator that gives greater emphasis to access to services is especially significant for rural areas (such as Suffolk). It acknowledges the existing value and good practice of the IMD but uses this resource in a targeted way that also acknowledges the mission of Power to Change.

Extending the range of secondary data resources through which community leaders can justify their proposals might be important if Power to Change wanted to help co-create maps of disadvantage with community leaders. It would acknowledge that the English IMD indicator system is part of a portfolio of identifying area-based disadvantage but it would allow community leaders to explore supplementary ways of representing this disadvantage. To make this a possibility for a range of community leaders, there are advantages in using online data-bases that would permit community leaders to map and represent area-based data. The key criteria for such as service should be useability and the service would need to play the role of cleaning up and packaging the data for use by community leaders. These services generally come with a subscription charge. This would be most useful where community leaders would want to extend the range of service-based disadvantage (such as broadband accessibility or access by public transport) or to extend the range of demographic characteristics to be included.

In Section 5 we identified two particular areas of disadvantage for which data is available but for which there is a need to synthesise indicator dimensions: these related to local economic conditions and to environmental resilience. Including these aspects goes beyond simply adding an additional variable. The third column of Table 11 relates the likely implications of doing more data-work in relation to these dimensions. In particular we would suggest that these areas are most fruitful for not only targeting areas for community business investment but also exploring the relationship between community businesses and their wider context. A better understanding of the local economic precursors for community business success and support would assist the broader mission of Power to Change. Equally more research on the role of community businesses in building environmental resilience and reducing environmental vulnerability would demonstrate the wider value of investment in the sector. This would extend the Power to Change hypothesis that community businesses build economic and social resilience within the communities in which they are located.

7.0: Recommendations for evaluating area-based disadvantage that relates to supporting community businesses

The English IMD indicator system is an example of good practice for what it does but it is not perfect: an over-reliance on the top-line IMD indicator is problematic especially when working in a specialist field such as investing in community businesses. Power to Change are not currently maximising the value of the IMD indicator system in relation to the specific objectives of the organisation. We strongly recommend that Power to Change engage in an organisation-wide discussion on making better use of a good and useful resource. This needs to extend beyond staff members to all people involved in evaluating funding bids. This report includes examples of how the IMD indicator system can be justifiably tweaked to more closely align with the stated objectives of the organisation's work with community businesses. The examples we developed (and can provide data for) relate to assetbased accessibility and a Power to Change 'better places' indicator.

Constructing area-profiles for flexible geographies and for a range of themes using publicly available data and flexible boundary setting can be achieved in partnership with community leaders through the use of existing web-based data resources. Based on an annual subscription a web-based mapping and data visualisation tools can help community leaders define the problems and opportunities they are setting out to resolve. This is potentially an important step in engaging community businesses in evaluating the impact of what they are doing. We recommend that a trial subscription is taken out with Local Insight to test whether community leaders are prepared to engage with it.

In terms of developing further work to better target investment in community businesses, we recommend two priority areas:

- Measuring the conditions for community businesses including the support available via local authority and LEP-funded business service units building on the work of Wong 2002.
- Explore the construction of an environmental vulnerability indicator that incorporates flood risk building on the work of King and MacGregor (2000).

These are areas that are not currently incorporated within the existing IMD indicator system but would be important for better targeting efforts either to build a supportive environment for community businesses or for building a plausible theory of change whereby investing in community businesses has an impact on issues related to environmental quality.

There is much we do not understand about the interactions between community businesses and the multiple communities of place and practice in which they are situated. This more detailed understanding clearly extends beyond the need to identify geographic areas in which to invest in community businesses to the need to evaluate the impact of community businesses and to better understand the dynamic of this diverse sector. Evaluating the impact of investment in community businesses stretches beyond the reasonable and plausible value of IMD and IMD-related indicator systems. In order to build an evaluative set of indicators we would recommend Power to Change to focus on a qualitative and collaborative research with community businesses to establish how they impact different communities of place and practice building on the work of van Ham et al. (2017).

References

Bacon, N. and Woodcraft, S., 2016, Understanding local areas: making best use of existing data, available at http://www.social-life.co/media/files/Understanding_local_areas_Dec_16_npzrefx.pdf [URL accurate as of July 2018]

Bertin, M., Chevrier, C., Pelé, F., Serrano-Chavez, T., Cordier, S. and Viel, J.F., 2014. Can a deprivation index be used legitimately over both urban and rural areas?. International journal of health geographics, 13(1), p.22.

Boardman, B., 2013. Fixing fuel poverty: challenges and solutions. Routledge.

CLG (2014) Updating the English Indices of Deprivation: report for consultation technical annex, Department for Communities and Local Government, November 2014

Comber, A., Brunsdon, C. and Phillips, M., 2012. The varying impact of geographic distance as a predictor of dissatisfaction over facility access. Applied Spatial Analysis and Policy, 5(4), pp.333-352.

Cornwell, E.Y. and Waite, L.J., 2009. Social disconnectedness, perceived isolation, and health among older adults. Journal of health and social behavior, 50(1), pp.31-48.

Cutter, S.L., Barnes, L., Berry, M., Burton, C., Evans, E., Tate, E. and Webb, J., 2008. A place-based model for understanding community resilience to natural disasters. Global environmental change, 18(4), pp.598-606.

Dibben, C., Atherton, I., Cox, M., Watson, V., Ryan, M. and Sutton, M., 2007. Investigating the impact of changing the weights that underpin the Index of Multiple Deprivation 2004. London: Department for Communities and Local Government.

Engle, N.L., 2011. Adaptive capacity and its assessment. Global Environmental Change, 21(2), pp.647-656.

Exeter, D.J., Zhao, J., Crengle, S., Lee, A. and Browne, M., 2017. The New Zealand Indices of Multiple Deprivation (IMD): A new suite of indicators for social and health research in Aotearoa, New Zealand. PloS one, 12(8), p.e0181260.

Fairburn, J., Maier, W. and Braubach, M., 2016. Incorporating environmental justice into second generation indices of multiple deprivation: lessons from the UK and progress internationally. International journal of environmental research and public health, 13(8), p.750.

Fecht, D., Jones, A., Hill, T., Lindfield, T., Thomson, R., Hansell, A.L. and Shukla, R., 2017. Inequalities in rural communities: adapting national deprivation indices for rural settings. Journal of Public Health, pp.1-7.

Higgs, G. and Langford, M., 2013. Investigating the validity of rural–urban distinctions in the impacts of changing service provision: The example of postal service reconfiguration in Wales. Geoforum, 47, pp.53-64.

King, D. and MacGregor, C., 2000. Using social indicators to measure community vulnerability to natural hazards. Australian Journal of Emergency Management, The, 15(3), p.52.

Knox, P.L., 1978. Territorial social indicators and area profiles: some cautionary observations. *Town Planning Review*, *49*(1), p.75.

Land, K.C. 2001, "Models and Indicators", Social Forces, vol. 80, no. 2, pp. 381-410.

Martin, D., Brigham, P., Roderick, P., Barnett, S. and Diamond, I., 2000. The (mis) representation of rural deprivation. Environment and Planning A, 32(4), pp.735-751.

Meijer, M., Engholm, G., Grittner, U. and Bloomfield, K., 2013. A socioeconomic deprivation index for small areas in Denmark. Scandinavian journal of public health, 41(6), pp.560-569.

Michaelson, J., Mahony, S. and Schifferes, J., 2012. Measuring wellbeing: A guide for practitioners. New Economics Foundation: London, UK.

Monk, S., Hodge, I. and Hodge, J., 2000. Supporting rural labour markets. Local Economy, 15(4), pp.302-311.

Noble, M., Wright, G., Smith, G. and Dibben, C., 2006. Measuring multiple deprivation at the smallarea level. Environment and planning A, 38(1), pp.169-185.

Northern Ireland Statistics and Research Agency (NISRA) (2010) Northern Ireland Multiple Deprivation Measure 2010: recommendations for future research into spatial deprivation, NISRA

Pasetto, R., Sampaolo, L. and Pirastu, R., 2010. Measures of material and social circumstances to adjust for deprivation in small-area studies of environment and health: review and perspectives. Annali dell'Istituto superiore di sanita, 46, pp.185-197.

Payne, R.A. and Abel, G.A., 2012. UK Indices of Multiple Deprivation – a way to make comparisons across constituent countries easier, Health Statistics Quarterly 53 (Spring 2012)

Power to Change, 2015. Better places through community business: Our strategy 2016–18, Power to Change downloaded from <u>https://www.powertochange.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/03/2016-2018-PTC_Strategy_TAGGED-1.pdf</u> [URL correct as of July 2018]

Power to Change, undated. Strategic Objective: Transforming places, downloaded from <u>https://www.powertochange.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/Hypotheses-final-.pdf</u>[URL correct as of July 2018]

Rey, G., Jougla, E., Fouillet, A. and Hémon, D., 2009. Ecological association between a deprivation index and mortality in France over the period 1997–2001: variations with spatial scale, degree of urbanicity, age, gender and cause of death. BMC public health, 9(1), p.33.

Schuurman, N., Bell, N., Dunn, J.R. and Oliver, L., 2007. Deprivation indices, population health and geography: an evaluation of the spatial effectiveness of indices at multiple scales. Journal of urban health, 84(4), pp.591-603.

Scottish Government, 2016. Scottish Index of Multiple Deprivation: SIMD16 technical notes, Scottish Government

Shaw, H.J., 2006. Food deserts: Towards the development of a classification. Geografiska Annaler: Series B, Human Geography, 88(2), pp.231-247.

Smith, T, Noble, M, Noble, S, Wright, G, McLennan, D and Plunkett, E (2015) The English Indices of Deprivation 2015: technical report, Department for Communities and Local Government, September 2015

UK Statistics Authority, 2011. The demand for, and feasibility of, a UK-wide index of multiple deprivation, monitoring brief 6/11, 20 July 2011

van Ham, M., Reuschke, D., Kleinhans, R., Mason, C. and Syrett,S. (eds) 2017, Entrepreneurial Neighbourhoods: Towards an Understanding of the Economies of Neighbourhoods and Communities. Edward Elgar Publishing: Cheltenham.

Walker, R.E., Keane, C.R. and Burke, J.G., 2010. Disparities and access to healthy food in the United States: A review of food deserts literature. Health & place, 16(5), pp.876-884.

Ward, B and Lewis, J., 2002, Plugging the Leaks; Making the most of every pound that enters your local economy, New Economics Foundation downloaded from: http://www.pluggingtheleaks.org/downloads/ptl_handbook.pdf [URL correct as of July 2018)

Watson, V., Sutton, M., Dibben, C. and Ryan, M., 2008. Deriving weights for the index of multiple deprivation based on societal preferences: The application of a discrete choice experiment. Health Economics Research, 26, p.27.

Welsh Assembly Government (2014) Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation 2014 (WIMD 2014): technical report, Welsh Government

Wong, C., 2002. Developing indicators to inform local economic development in England. Urban Studies, 39(10), pp.1833-1863.

Yuan, Y. and Wu, F., 2014. The development of the index of multiple deprivations from small-area population census in the city of Guangzhou, PRC. Habitat International, 41, pp.142-149.